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The following discussion and analysis is prepared by Management as of March 29, 2023 and should be read in 
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Star Diamond Corporation (“Star Diamond”, or “the Company”) 
prepared its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). All 
currency amounts are quoted in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated.   

Overview 

Star Diamond is a Canadian natural resource company focused on exploring and developing Saskatchewan's 
diamond resources. Star Diamond holds, through a joint venture arrangement with Rio Tinto Exploration 
Canada Inc. (“Rio Tinto Canada”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rio Tinto plc, “Rio Tinto”), a 25% interest in 
certain Fort à la Corne kimberlite properties (which includes the Star – Orion South Diamond Project, or the 
“Project”). These properties are located in central Saskatchewan, in close proximity to established 
infrastructure, including paved highways and the electrical power grid, which provide significant advantages 
for future mine development.  

During 2018, the Company announced the positive results of an independent Preliminary Economic 
Assessment (“PEA”) on the Project. The PEA estimated that 66 million carats of diamonds could be recovered 
in a surface mine over a 38-year Project life, with a Net Present Value (“NPV”) (7%) of $2.0 billion after tax, an 
Internal Rate of Return (“IRR”) of 19% and an after-tax payback period of 3.4 years after the commencement 
of diamond production (see news release dated April 16, 2018 and Technical Report dated May 30, 2018). 
The PEA was led by independent mining, processing and design consultants, with support from the Company’s 
technical team. The PEA cash flow model is based on developing two open pits, initially on the Orion South 
Kimberlite and subsequently on the Star Kimberlite. The PEA Highlights Included 1.: 

• Total potential plant feed of 470 million tonnes at a weighted average grade of 14 carats per hundred tonnes
(“cpht”), containing 66 million carats over the Life of Mine 2. (“LOM”);

• The Base Case scenario (Model diamond price) has an NPV (7%) of $3.3 billion and an IRR of 22% before taxes
and royalties, and an after-taxes and royalties NPV (7%) of $2.0 billion with an IRR of 19%;

• The Case 1 scenario (High Model diamond price) has an NPV (7%) of $5.4 billion for an IRR of 32% before
taxes and royalties;

• Pre-production capital cost of $1.41 billion with a total capital cost of $1.87 billion (including direct, indirect
costs and contingency) over the LOM and an initial capital cost payback period of 3.4 years.

1. Cautionary note: The PEA was prepared in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
("NI 43-101"). Readers are cautioned that the PEA is preliminary in nature and includes the use of Inferred Mineral Resources that are 
considered too speculative geologically to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized 
as Mineral Reserves, and there is no certainty that the results of the PEA will be realized. 

2. Diamond-bearing kimberlite is produced from the mine and diamonds are recovered in the processing plant for 34 years. The overall 
project life is 38 years, which includes just over four years of pre-stripping activities. 

During 2018, the Saskatchewan Ministry of Environment (“Ministry”) approved the Company’s Star – Orion 
South Diamond Project (see news release dated October 25, 2018). The Ministry indicated that it had 
conducted a thorough environmental assessment for the Project, including a detailed environmental impact 
statement, and carried out in-depth consultation prior to the decision to approve the Project. This included 
fulfilling the Province’s duty to consult with local First Nations and Métis communities. The Canadian 
Environmental Assessment Agency previously announced a positive Environmental Assessment Decision for 
the proposed Project by the federal Environment Minister (see news release dated December 3, 2014). 

1

http://www.stardiamondcorp.com/
http://www.sedar.com/


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 www.stardiamondcorp.com 

TSX: DIAM 

Star Diamond Corporation – 2022 MD&A 

Fort à la Corne mineral properties 

In December 2021, the Company entered into binding agreements with Rio Tinto Canada that comprehensively 
resolved all disputes between them (see news release and related filings dated December 9, 2021). These 
arrangements were intended to ensure that key project milestones, and the certainty associated with them, 
were to be achieved before Star Diamond has to contribute any additional capital. As part of the December 
2021 amended Fort à la Corne joint venture agreement, the participating interests were adjusted to 75% for 
Rio Tinto Canada and 25% for Star Diamond. 

On June 28, 2022, Rio Tinto Canada exercised its voting power at a meeting of the Fort à la Corne joint venture 
management committee to place the Fort à la Corne properties on care and maintenance through December 
31, 2022 (see news release dated June 28, 2022). Rio Tinto Canada also advised that, subject to fulfilling its 
existing obligations, it did not intend to commit additional capital to the Fort à la Corne properties during 2022 
beyond what was necessary for care and maintenance. Rio Tinto Canada also advised the Company that it 
intended to conduct a near-term review of its alternatives regarding the Fort à la Corne properties, which 
included its potential exit. During the June 2022 meeting, Rio Tinto Canada stated that it remained pleased 
with the results of the comprehensive studies and bulk sampling program that had been completed to date at 
the Project.    

On October 21, 2022, Star Diamond announced that Rio Tinto Canada had stated that it intended to fully de-
mobilize the leased on-site camp at the Project in early 2023, and that it continues with site care and 
maintenance activities to fulfill its existing obligations, including certain progressive site cleanup and 
remediation programs.   

While Star Diamond continues to seek to work with Rio Tinto Canada to assess alternatives regarding the 
Project, these discussions are ongoing and there is no certainty that any agreement will be reached between 
Star Diamond and Rio Tinto Canada regarding any such potential arrangements. 

Activities relating to the Star - Orion South Diamond Project and Fort à la Corne mineral properties 

During technical meetings concerning the Project held in March 2022, Rio Tinto Canada indicated to the 
Company that a number of desktop studies had been undertaken to evaluate the mineability and economic 
viability of the Project (see news release dated February 17, 2022). Star Diamond received presentations from 
both Rio Tinto Canada and Rio Tinto personnel concerning data analysis and exploration activities that had 
been undertaken by Rio Tinto Canada over the last two years (see news release dated March 9, 2022). Topics 
of interest covered during these technical meetings included: 1) Star Kimberlite trench cutter bulk sampling 
program results;2) Diamond size and quality analysis; 3) ‘Orbit’ program update; 4) Mineability study; 5) 
Geological model and resource update; 6) Community and stakeholder engagement; 7) Environmental and 
permitting; and 8) Green energy and carbon mineralization.  

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company announced the completion of an independent study 
into the abundance of Type IIa diamonds in the Trench Cutter diamond parcels recovered from the Early Joli 
Fou (“EJF”) geological units at the Star Kimberlite, as defined by the Star Diamond geological model (see news 
release dated May 31, 2022). During 2019, Rio Tinto Canada completed the drilling of ten bulk sample holes 
(trenches) on the Star Kimberlite using a Trench Cutter Sampling Rig. This study confirms that high proportions 
of Type IIa diamonds are present in the Star Kimberlite. Of note is the high proportion of Type IIa diamonds in 
the larger size fractions of the EJF of which 53 percent (that is, 8 of the 15) of the largest stones, 4 carats and 
above, are Type IIa. This study also confirms and augments earlier studies conducted by Star Diamond of Type 
IIa diamonds at Star (26.5 percent, +11 DTC (0.32 carats) and above) (see news releases dated June 09, 2010, 
March 4, 2019 and May 2, 2022). Type IIa diamonds are rare and account for less than 2 percent of all natural 
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rough diamonds mined from kimberlites. Many high-value, top colour, large specials (greater than 10.8 carats) 
are Type IIa diamonds, which include all ten of the largest known rough diamonds recovered worldwide. 

Rio Tinto Canada geologists of the ‘Orbit’ exploration team have, over the past few years, used a spectrum of 
evaluation techniques to review and prioritize Fort à la Corne kimberlites outside of the Star and Orion South 
Kimberlites (see news release dated April 13, 2022). This program highlighted the kimberlites of Orion North 
(K120, K147, K148) as having significant potential to add to the Project. Orion Centre (K145), Taurus (K150, 
K118, K122) and K119 stand out in the field as having a number of the attributes sought but require further 
work to completely evaluate. The evaluation techniques used by the Orbit exploration team to prioritize these 
Orion North, Orion Centre and Taurus Kimberlites have included: componentry method of core logging; 
diamond inclusion studies; garnet colour studies; trace element geochemistry; thermobarometry; and 
microdiamond sampling. These studies highlighted the kimberlites of Orion North (K120, K147, K148) as 
satisfying Rio Tinto Canada’s Ore Grade Width Intercept (“OGWI”) requirements and that these kimberlites 
would require additional evaluation work. Orion Centre (K145), Taurus (K150, K118, K122) and K119 indicated 
the potential to deliver OGWIs. 

During 2022, the Company also announced the completion of an independent study into the abundance of 
Type IIa diamonds in the diamond parcels recovered from the EJF Geological Units at the Orion North and 
Taurus Kimberlites (see news release dated May 2, 2022). These diamonds were recovered by Star Diamond 
between 2006 and 2008 from 48-inch large diameter drilling programs. This study confirms that unusually high 
proportions of Type IIa diamonds are present in both the Orion North and Taurus Kimberlites. Of particular 
note is the high proportion of Type IIa diamonds in the Orion North 147/148 EJF (52%) of which 66% of the 24 
stones, 3 grainer (0.66 carats) and above, are Type IIa.  
 

Activities relating to the Buffalo Hills mineral properties 
 

The Company holds a 50% interest in the exploration and evaluation properties and assets of the Buffalo Hills-
JV located in north-central Alberta, Canada. Canterra Minerals Corporation (“Canterra”) holds the remaining 
50% interest and is the operator of the Buffalo Hills-JV.  
 

On February 21, 2023, the Company announced the completion of the diamond valuation from the K6, K14, 
K91 and K252 kimberlites of the Buffalo Hills-JV.  

Diamond valuations and characterizations as shown in the table below were completed by Mr. Nelson Karun, 
Diamond Specialist, Saskatchewan Research Council (“SRC”) Diamond Services, on behalf of Star Diamond. 
 

Kimberlite Carats Stones % Gem 
Quality 

% White 
Colour 

Faint to no 
Fluorescence 

Average US$/Ct 
Parcel 

Model Price 
(US$/ct) 

K6 16.73 86 29.5 70.5 82.9 103.54 185* 
K14 69.32 1,362 17.9 73.8 92.6 54.32 160 
K91 4.17 103 17.9 54.6 89.7 53.61 N/A 
K252 12.41 328 22.0 82.1 92.1 72.79 140* 

*Very speculative due to the small sample size 
 

As observed by Mr. Karun, diamonds from these kimberlite bodies exhibit good quality, colour and very low 
to no fluorescence. All the parcels of diamonds appear to be statistically very similar in terms of their graded 
characteristics. There is an inadequate sample size for K91 to model the average diamond price. Extremely 
speculative model prices are given for samples K6 and K252, due to the small parcel size. K14 is a larger parcel 
size, and a price can be modeled, but should still be used with caution. 
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The diamond valuation exercise has shown that kimberlites K14 and K6 have elevated modelled diamond 
prices, US$ 160 per carat and US$ 180 per carat, respectively. The K6 parcel includes three fancy yellow 
stones, the K14 four fancy yellow and the K252 a fancy orange stone. The two highest value stones, which 
are both from the K6, are 1.06 carats (US$ 532) and 1.07 carats (US$ 506).  
 

These four kimberlites have diamond parcels with sufficient diamonds to conduct preliminary diamond 
typing studies. The number and the percentage of Type IIa diamonds for the Buffalo Hills kimberlites studied 
are documented in the table below and shows that these kimberlites have an anomalously high percentage 
of Type IIA diamonds. 
 

Diamonds +3 DTC (0.026 carats) to 5 Grainer (1.2 carats) 
 Number of 

Diamonds Typed 
Number of Type IIa 

Diamonds 
Percentage Type IIa 

Diamonds 
K6 +3 (0.026 ct) & above 78 4 5.1 
K14 +7 (0.12 ct) & above 126 3 2.4 
K91 +3 (0.026 ct) & above 47 3 6.4 
K252 +3 (0.026 ct) & above 153 7 4.6 

 

The diamond typing exercise has shown presence of Type IIa diamonds, in elevated proportions, in all four 
of these Buffalo Hills kimberlites. The diamonds analysed represent a spectrum of diamond sizes from +3 
DTC (+0.026 carats) to 5 grainer (1.2 carats). 
 
Type IIa diamonds are very rare and generally account for less than 2 percent of all natural rough diamonds 
mined world-wide from kimberlite deposits. Only a small number of active diamond mines regularly produce 
Type IIa diamonds with the most important of these mines being Cullinan Diamond Mine in South Africa, 
Letseng Diamond Mine in the Kingdom of Lesotho and, more recently, Karowe Diamond Mine in Botswana. 
 

Executive Management and Board of Directors Changes 
 

On February 17, 2022, the Company announced the appointment of Larry Phillips to the board of directors 
(the "Board").  Effective May 18, 2022, Harvey Bay retired from the Board. 
 

On November 16, 2022, the Company announced the retirement of Ken MacNeill as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company and resignation from the Board, effective December 31, 2022. Ewan Mason, 
Chair of the Board, was appointed to act as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer to manage the 
Company as the Board works to select a permanent successor. In order to ensure that the Company retains 
continued access to Mr. MacNeill’s knowledge and expertise regarding the Project, the Company has entered 
into a consulting agreement with Mr. MacNeill to serve as a Special Advisor to the Board. 
 

Effective January 1, 2023, Lisa Riley was appointed the lead independent director of the Board as Mr. Mason 
stepped into an executive role. 
 

On December 28, 2022, the Company also announced the resignation of Greg Shyluk as Chief Financial Officer 
effective January 19, 2023.  On February 9, 2023, Richard Johnson was appointed as his replacement. 
 

On March 3, 2023 the Company announced the appointment of Marilyn Spink to the Board. 
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Outlook 
 

Fort à la Corne mineral properties 
On June 28, 2022, Rio Tinto Canada exercised its voting power at a meeting of the Fort à la Corne joint venture 
management committee to place the Fort à la Corne properties on care and maintenance through December 
31, 2022. Rio Tinto Canada also advised that, subject to fulfilling its existing obligations, it did not intend to 
commit additional capital to the Fort à la Corne properties during 2022 beyond what was necessary for care 
and maintenance. Rio Tinto Canada also advised the Company that it intended to conduct a near-term review 
of its alternatives regarding the Fort à la Corne properties, which included its potential exit.  

While Star Diamond continues to seek to work with Rio Tinto Canada to assess alternatives regarding the 
Project, there is no certainty that any agreement will be reached between Star Diamond and Rio Tinto Canada 
regarding any such potential arrangements. 

Buffalo Hills mineral properties 
Management continues to review the recent results from the diamond valuation and typing analysis. 
Discussions are ongoing with Canterra to determine possible future work programs. A more detailed update 
on activities at the Buffalo Hills-JV will be provided as they become available. 

Selected Annual Information  
 

Selected financial information of the Company for each of the last three fiscal years is summarized as follows: 
 

 2022 
$  

2021 
$  

2020 
$  

Interest and other income (millions) 0.0 0.0 0.1 
Net loss (millions) 68.8 7.7 6.1 
Net loss per share (1) 0.15 0.02 0.01 

Total assets (millions)  3.1 69.4 72.6 
Total non-current liabilities (millions) 0.0 1.1 1.3 
Working capital (deficit) (millions) 2.0 (1.6) 4.0 

    
(1) Basic and diluted. 

 

Results of Operations 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a net loss of $68.8 million or $0.15 per share 
(basic and fully diluted) compared to a net loss of $7.7 million or $0.02 per share in 2021. The increase in net 
loss during the current year was due to an impairment charge of $66.3 million offset by the elimination of the 
$0.9 million contingent consideration combined with the year over year decrease in operating costs and 
exploration and evaluation expenditures. 

Interest and other income 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company reported interest and other income of $42,000 
and $39,000, respectively. The Company invests excess cash reserves in interest bearing short-term deposits 
while ensuring funds are available for cash outflow requirements associated with the Company’s exploration 
and evaluation projects. Other revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable 
for goods and services in the normal course of business. 
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Expenses 
Expenses incurred during the year ended December 31, 2022 were $3.0 million compared to $8.0 million in 
2021. This result was due to lower consulting and professional fee expenditures and lower exploration and 
evaluation expenditures. These amounts also include $0.2 million of share-based payments that were 
expensed during the year ended December 31, 2022 (2021 – $0.6 million).  
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures were $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared 
to $3.0 million for the same period in 2021. Exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred during 2022 and 
2021 primarily related to metallurgical investigations, diamond analyses and test work for the Project as well 
as other costs associated with the Project. Approximately 59%, or $0.5 million (2021 – $0.5 million or 16 %), of 
the exploration and evaluation expenditures were made up of compensation costs, including share-based 
payments, incurred by the Company.  
 

Administration, consulting and professional fees and corporate development expenditures were $2.2 million 
for the current compared to $5.0 million in 2021. This $2.8 million year over year decrease was primarily due 
to lower professional fees incurred combined with lower non-cash share-based payments expensed during the 
year offset by increased management fees related to the retirement arrangement implemented with the 
Company’s former President and Chief Executive Officer. Approximately $1.5 million (2021 – $1.3 million) of 
administration, consulting and professional fees and corporate development expenditures were made up of 
compensation costs, including share-based payments of $0.2 million (2021 – $0.6 million), incurred by the 
Company.  
 

Impairment charge 
 

The recent actions by Rio Tinto Canada, which are outside the control of the Company, have resulted in a high 
degree of uncertainty over the future of the Project.  As a result, during the fourth quarter, the Company has 
recognized a non-cash after-tax impairment of $66.3 million on its 25% share of the Fort à la Corne asset leaving 
it fully impaired at December 31, 2022.  The Company continues to discuss alternatives with Rio Tinto Canada 
to determine the future of the Project.  These discussions are ongoing and there is no certainty that any 
agreement will be reached between the Company and Rio Tinto Canada. 
 

Use of flow-through proceeds 
  

$millions   
Flow-through proceeds raised during 2020 (1) (2) 1.0    
Flow-through eligible expenditures incurred to December 31, 2022 1.0 
Remaining flow-through eligible expenditures to be incurred 0.0 

 

(1) During 2020, the Company raised $1.0 million from flow-through financing activities to be used on flow-through eligible 
exploration and evaluation expenditures. 

(2) Due to the global COVID-19 pandemic, the Government of Canada extended the expenditure period for incurring qualifying 
expenditures (to fulfill obligations under flow-through financing commitments) by one year. As a result, qualifying 
expenditures were to be incurred by December 31, 2022 (rather than by December 31, 2021). 

Investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc. 
At December 31, 2022, the Company held 5.8 million shares or 11.59% (December 31, 2021 – 5.8 million shares 
or 12.90%) of Wescan Goldfields Inc. (“Wescan”), a publicly traded company listed on the TSX Venture 
exchange. The Company considers certain judgments and assumptions when assessing whether significant 
influence exists over its investments. This includes an assessment of the Company’s ability to participate in 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. The existence and effect of potential voting rights held 
by the investor or other entities were also considered. The fair value of this investment, based on the closing 
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trading price at December 31, 2022, was $0.2 million (2021 – $0.7 million). As a result, during 2022 the 
Company recognized a $0.4 million decrease (2021 – $0.3 million increase) in the carrying value of its 
investment in Wescan. 
 

Financing 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company completed a private placement whereby an aggregate 
of 16,666,667 Units were issued for gross proceeds of $5.0 million. Each Unit was comprised of one common 
share and one warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of 
$0.40 for a period of two years from the closing of the private placement. During the year, the Company also 
issued common shares from treasury as a result of stock option, warrant and broker warrant exercises and 
restricted share unit redemptions.  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company completed a $2.0 million private placement of 
13,333,334 Units. Each Unit was comprised of one common share and one warrant. Each warrant entitles the 
holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of $0.25, for a period of two years from the closing of 
the private placement.  
 

Summary of Quarterly Results 
                        

 2022 2021 

 Qtr 4 Qtr 3 Qtr 2 Qtr 1 Qtr 4 Qtr 3 Qtr 2 Qtr 1 

Income (1) ($millions)  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Net loss (2) ($millions)  66.7 0.5 0.7 0.9 2.5 2.0 2.1 1.1 

Net loss per share (3) ($) 0.14 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.01 0.00 

Shares outstanding (millions) (4) 476.0 476.0 473.9 455.5 452.8 452.8 452.8 452.8 
 

(1) Income relates to interest earned on the Company’s cash and short-term investments.  
(2) Net losses relate to expenditures incurred by the Company exceeding income earned.  
(3) Basic and diluted. 
(4) During the second quarter of 2022, the Company completed a private placement of 16.7 million common shares. Other changes in shares 

outstanding were due to shares issued from treasury as a result of stock option and warrant exercises and Restricted Share Unit redemptions.  

Fourth quarter results 
For the quarter ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a net loss of $66.7 million, or $0.14 per 
share, compared to a net loss of $2.5 million, or $0.01 per share, for the same period in 2021. This increased 
loss was due to an impairment charge of $66.3 million offset by a quarter over quarter decrease in operating 
costs and exploration and evaluation expenditures.  
 

Expenses incurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2022 were $1.3 million compared to $2.8 million 
for the same period in 2021.  
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2022 were $0.3 
million, compared to $0.6 million during the same period in 2021. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
incurred during the quarters ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were primarily related to metallurgical 
investigations, diamond analyses and test work for the Project as well as other costs associated with the 
Project.  
 

In addition, administration, consulting and professional fees, and corporate development expenditures for the 
quarters ended December 31, 2022 were $1.0 million, compared to $2.2 million during the same period in the 
prior year. The significant decrease was due to legal fees incurred in 2021 related to the Rio Tinto Canada 
dispute. 
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Related Party Transactions 
 

During the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company announced the retirement of Mr. Kenneth E. MacNeill, 
President and Chief Executive Officer (see news release dated November 16, 2022), effective December 31, 
2022. Pursuant to a retirement agreement and a subsequent consulting agreement, Mr. MacNeill is entitled to 
receive $500,000, inclusive of all taxes, payable in two $250,000 payments with the first payment paid in 
January 2023 and the second payment payable on January 1, 2024. Up to and including December 31, 2022, 
Mr. MacNeill also received monthly fees, through his consulting company, of $20,000 per month (2021 - 
$20,000 per month).  
 

Total compensation paid or payable to officers (including amounts paid or owing to Mr. MacNeill as a result of 
the retirement agreement) and to directors of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 was 
$1.3 million (2021 – $1.0 million). Of these amounts, $1.3 million (2021 – $1.0 million) was included in 
administration expense; included in these amounts are share-based payment transactions of $0.1 million (2021 
– $0.4 million). 
 

The above transactions were in the normal course of operations and are measured at an amount agreed to by 
the related parties. The fair value of share-based payments in the form of options was determined using the 
Black-Scholes model. The fair value of share-based payments in the form of RSUs was determined based on 
the five-day volume weighted average trading price of the Company’s shares preceding the date of grant.  
 

Liquidity 
 

The Company does not currently operate any producing properties and, as such, is dependent upon the 
issuance of new equity to finance its ongoing obligations and advance its exploration and evaluation properties. 
Until the Company’s surplus cash is required to fund exploration, evaluation and/or development activities it 
is invested in a variety of highly rated instruments.  
 

At December 31, 2022 the Company had $2.6 million (2021 – $1.3 million) in cash and cash equivalents and 
working capital of $2.0 million (2021 - $(1.6) million).  The increase in working capital was a result of proceeds 
received from the April 2022 private placement, combined with the $0.6 million received from the Ministry on 
release of the Company’s environmental rehabilitation commitments, offset by administrative and exploration 
and evaluation expenditures. The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to fund general and 
administrative costs and certain exploration expenditures through to the end of the 2023.  
 

Outstanding Common Shares, Options, Warrants, RSUs and DSUs 
 

At December 31, 2022, and the date of this report, the Company had: 
 

 December 31, 2022 Date of this report 
Common shares 475,997 475,997 
Warrants and broker warrants 30,468 17,135 
Stock Options 18,478 18,478 
Restricted Share Units 3,427 3,324 
Deferred Share Units 1,017 1,017 

 

A summary of the warrants and broker warrants outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2022 is as 
follows: 

 

Exercise Price Number Outstanding Expiry Date 
  $   
0.25 13,333 January 21, 2023 
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0.40 14,322 April 6, 2024 
0.40 2,813 April 21, 2024 

The following table summarizes the year’s stock options activities as follows: 

 December 31, 2022 
 

December 31, 2021 

 
Number of  

options 
Weighted average  

exercise price 
Number of 

options 
Weighted average  

exercise price 
    $  $ 
Outstanding, beginning of year 19,742 0.21 19,861 0.20 
Granted 200 0.125 1,958 0.22 
Exercised (375) 0.19 - - 
Expired (1,089) 0.20 (2,077) 0.20 
Outstanding, end of year 18,478 0.21 19,742 0.21 

The following table summarizes the year’s Restricted Share Units activities as follows: 

   
  December 31 

2022 
December 31 

2021 
  Outstanding , beginning of year  

 
4,532 3,881 

  Granted  
 

1,000 651 
  Redeemed for common shares from treasury  

 
(2,105) - 

  Outstanding, end of year  
 

3,427 4,532 

The following table summarizes the year’s Deferred Share Unit activities as follows: 

   
  December 31 

2022 
December 31 

2021 
  Outstanding, beginning of year  

 
1,017 537 

  Granted  
 

- 480 
  Redeemed for common shares from treasury  

 
- - 

  Outstanding, end of year  
 

1,017 1,017 
 

Financial Instruments 
 

As at December 31, 2022, the fair values of all of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their 
carrying values. Certain financial instruments are exposed to the following financial risks: 
 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss by the Company if a customer or third-party to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company considers this risk to be insignificant as the majority of 
the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held by financial institutions with an R-1 (high) credit rating. At 
December 31, 2022, the Company’s credit risk relates to its cash and cash equivalents of $2.6 million. 
 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to forecast future cash flows to ensure that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations when due. To ensure the Company has sufficient cash on hand, the 
Company prepares annual capital and operating budgets which are regularly monitored and updated as 
considered necessary. At December 31, 2022, the Company had working capital of $2.0 million including cash 
of $2.6 million. The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to fund general and administrative costs and 
certain exploration expenditures through to the end of 2023.  
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At December 31, 2022, the Company is committed to trade payables and operating leases as set out in the 
following table, on an undiscounted basis: 
 

   
   Up to 3 

months 
  Trade payables and accrued liabilities 

 
 $678 

  Lease payments 
 

 39 
  Total  

 
 $717 

 
 

Excluded from this table is the contingent consideration as described in note 11 to the financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2022. At December 31, 2022, given the recent actions of Rio Tinto Canada (note 
11) the Company has determined that there is remote probability of a contingent payment and as a result, the 
fair value of the contingent consideration was determined to be $nil at December 31, 2022 (December 31, 
2021 - $0.9 million). 
 

The Company may pursue options to finance further exploration, evaluation and/or development as it currently 
does not have sufficient funds to bring any of its property interests into production from its own financial 
resources. Financing options may include equity financing, debt financing or other means. Although the 
Company has been successful in the past in obtaining financing, there can be no assurance that the Company 
will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms of such financing will be favorable. 
Failure to obtain additional financing could result in delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration, 
evaluation and/or development of its projects with the possible loss of such properties. 
 

The Company is aware, in making its going concern assessment, of material uncertainties related to events and 
conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. At December 
31, 2022, the Company has working capital of $2.0 million including cash of $2.6 million.  The ability of the 
Company to continue as a going concern and fund general and administrative expenses in an orderly manner 
will require further equity issuances or other forms of financings by the end of 2023. There is no assurance that 
the Company will be successful in obtaining required financing at an acceptable cost as and when needed or at 
all. Failure to obtain additional financing on a timely basis may cause the Company to postpone exploration 
and/or evaluation plans, forfeit rights in its properties or reduce or terminate its operations. The Company is 
assessing opportunities to address the issue of liquidity. 
 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices.  Market prices are comprised of four types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity 
price risk and equity price risk. 
 

Foreign currency risk: 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and US dollar 
or other foreign currencies will affect the Company’s operations and financial results. The Company does not 
have significant exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuation since transactions and balances in foreign 
currencies are minimal, if any.  
 

Interest rate risk: 
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.  
The Company does not have any borrowings. Interest rate risk is limited to potential decreases on the interest 
rate offered on cash and cash equivalents held with chartered Canadian financial institutions. The Company 
considers this risk to be immaterial.  
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Equity price risk: 
Equity price risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets arising from changes in equity 
markets. The Company is exposed to this risk through its equity holdings. The investment in the common shares 
of Wescan is monitored by management with recommendations on any sale taken to the Company’s Board of 
Directors. A ten percent decrease in the market price of Wescan would result in a $23,000 decrease in fair 
value. 
 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
issued by the IASB. The Company’s accounting policies are described in Note 4 to the financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2022. Certain of these policies involve critical accounting estimates as they 
require management to make particularly subjective or complex judgments about matters that are inherently 
uncertain and because of the likelihood that materially different amounts could be reported under different 
conditions or using different assumptions. The uncertainties related to these areas could significantly impact 
the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. 
 

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, significant judgments and 
estimations have been made by management in applying the Company’s accounting policies. In particular, the 
significant areas of judgment and estimation uncertainty considered by management in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements are: identification of cash generating units, exploration and evaluation 
expenditures, reserve and resource estimation, asset valuations and impairment of exploration and evaluation 
assets, estimations for environmental rehabilitation provisions, share-based payment transactions and 
estimation of contingent consideration payable. These are discussed in more detail in Note 5 of the Company’s 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022.    
 

A critical accounting estimate in determining the Company’s financial results relates to the recoverability of 
the carried amounts of exploration and evaluation assets. Management monitors these assets for indications 
of impairment at each reporting date. Where impairment indicators exist, management will estimate the 
recoverable amount of these assets in comparison to the carrying values.  
 

Accounting Changes 
 

Accounting Changes during the period 
 

At the date of authorization of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, 
the IASB has not issued any new standards which became effective for the reporting period that would have a 
material impact on the Company. 
 

IFRS standards issued but not yet effective 
 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1) 
The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements which require entities to 
disclose their “material” accounting policy information rather than their “significant” accounting policies. The 
amendments explain that accounting policy information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring that 
information could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of the financial 
statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments also clarify that accounting 
policy information may be material because of its nature, even if the related amounts are immaterial. This 
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application is 
permitted. The extent of the impact of adoption of these amendments has not yet been determined. 
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Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) 
 

The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
which introduce a definition of accounting estimates and provide other clarifications to help entities distinguish 
accounting policies from accounting estimates. Under the amendments, accounting estimates are defined as 
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. The amendments 
also emphasize that a change in an accounting estimate that results from new information or new 
developments is not an error correction, and that changes in an input or a measurement technique used to 
develop an accounting estimate are considered changes in accounting estimates if those changes in an input 
or measurement technique are not the result of an error correction. This amendment is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application is permitted. The extent of the impact of 
adoption of these amendments has not yet been determined. 
 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1) 
 

The IASB has published Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1) which 
clarifies the guidance on whether a liability should be classified as either current or non-current. The 
amendments: 
• clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should only be based on rights that are in 
place "at the end of the reporting period"; 
• clarify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer 
settlement of a liability; and 
• make clear that settlement includes transfers to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets 
or services that result in extinguishment of the liability. 
 

This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Earlier application is 
permitted. The extent of the impact of adoption of this amendment has not yet been determined. 
There are no IFRSs or International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations 
that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Company.    
 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 

The Company has disclosure controls and procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance that any 
information required to be disclosed by the Company under securities legislation is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the applicable time periods, and to ensure that required information is 
gathered and communicated to the Company’s management so that decisions can be made about timely 
disclosure of that information. In accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 52-109 Certification 
of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings, the Company’s management, under the supervision and 
with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), are 
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures and have caused these to be 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information is made known to management, 
particularly during the period in which these filings are being prepared; and information required to be 
disclosed is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in securities 
legislation. 
 

As at the end of the period covered by this MD&A and accompanying consolidated financial statements, the 
CEO and the CFO have reviewed and evaluated the design and effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have concluded that the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at December 31, 2022. 
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There have been no significant changes in the Company's disclosure controls during the year ended December 
31, 2022. 
 

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting Procedures 
 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over 
financial reporting. Any system of internal controls over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has 
inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable 
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. In accordance with the 
requirements of National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings, 
the Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of the CEO and the CFO and 
effected by the Company’s board of directors, have designed the Company’s internal controls over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2022 so that the internal controls over financial reporting provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with IFRS issued by the IASB and interpretations of the IFRIC. 
 

Management, including the CEO and the CFO, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls 
over financial reporting as at December 31, 2022. In making its assessment, management, including the CEO 
and the CFO, used the criteria set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management 
concluded that the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting were effective as at December 31, 
2022. 
 

There have been no significant changes to internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2022 that could have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the 
Company’s internal controls over financial reporting. 
 

Risks and Uncertainties  
 

The securities of the Company are highly speculative due to the nature of the Company’s business as well as 
the present stage of exploration and development of its mineral properties. The reader is cautioned that the 
following descriptions of risks and uncertainties is not all inclusive as it pertains to conditions currently known 
to Management. There can be no guarantee or assurance that other factors will or will not adversely affect the 
Company. 

The principal risks faced by the Company include, without limitation: decisions that Rio Tinto Canada may make 
in relation to the Fort à la Corne properties and the joint venture  between Rio Tinto Canada and the Company 
through which the Company’s interest in the Fort à la Corne properties is held, which joint venture is controlled 
by Rio Tinto Canada; the Company's ability to obtain financing to further the exploration, evaluation and/or 
development of exploration and evaluation properties in which the Company holds interests; changes in 
exploration, development or mining plans due to exploration results and changing budget priorities of Rio Tinto 
Canada or the Company; maintaining title to property claims in which the Company holds interests; obtaining 
the required permits from various federal, provincial and local governmental authorities; and the ultimate 
economic feasibility of any future development projects. 

During 2022, Rio Tinto Canada: (a) placed the Fort à la Corne properties on care and maintenance through 
December 31, 2022; (b) advised that, subject to fulfilling its existing obligations, it did not intend to commit 
additional capital to the Fort à la Corne properties during 2022 beyond what was necessary for care and 
maintenance; (c) advised that it intended to conduct a near-term review of its alternatives regarding the Fort 
à la Corne properties, which included its potential exit; and (d) stated that it intended to fully de-mobilize the 
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leased on-site camp at the Project in early 2023.   There can be no assurance whatsoever that Rio Tinto Canada 
will seek to further invest in the Fort à la Corne mineral properties (including the Project). While Star Diamond 
continues to seek to work with Rio Tinto Canada to assess alternatives regarding the Project, there is no 
certainty that any agreement will be reached between Star Diamond and Rio Tinto Canada regarding any such 
potential arrangements.  See "Fort à la Corne mineral properties” on page 2.      

The further exploration, evaluation and/or development of exploration and evaluation properties in which the 
Company holds interests or which the Company acquires may depend upon the Company's ability to obtain 
financing through equity financing, debt financing or other means. The Company currently does not have 
sufficient funds to put any of its property interests into production from its own financial resources. There is 
no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining required financing as and when needed. Failure 
to obtain additional financing on a timely basis may cause the Company to postpone development plans, forfeit 
rights in its property interests, have its ownership interest in properties diluted or reduce or terminate its 
operations. Reduced liquidity or difficulty in obtaining future financing could have an adverse impact on the 
Company’s future cash flows, results of operations and financial condition. The relative prices of diamonds and 
future expectations for such prices have a significant impact on the market sentiment for investment in 
diamond mining and exploration companies. To ensure that exploration and evaluation procedures are being 
performed effectively and those results are interpreted and reported in a proper manner, management 
ensures that qualified individuals, service providers and external consultants are utilized in the verification and 
quality assurance of analytical results.  

Title disputes could have adverse consequences to the Company. Managing these issues is an integral part of 
exploration, development and mining in Canada and the Company is committed to managing these issues 
effectively. The Company has in the past diligently investigated title to its claims. However, no assurance can 
be given that title to these properties will not be challenged or impugned in the future by third parties or 
governments.  

The current or future operations of the Company, including development activities and commencement of 
production on its properties, require permits from various federal, provincial and local governmental 
authorities. Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and permitting requirements may result in 
permits not being granted or enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial 
authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed and may include corrective measures requiring capital 
expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. In addition, application for permits will 
be required for the construction and operation of the proposed Project. While the majority of permits will be 
required from provincial authorities, permits required from the federal government include authorization from 
the Department of Fisheries and Oceans to allow anticipated changes to fish and fish habitat, permits from 
Natural Resources Canada for the explosives storage site and authorizations from Environment and Climate 
Change Canada and Transport Canada.  

All of the Company’s property interests are currently in the exploration stage. The exploration, development 
and production of precious metals and gems are capital-intensive, subject to the normal risks and capital 
expenditure requirements associated with mining operations. While the rewards can be substantial if 
commercial quantities of minerals or gems are found, there can be no assurance that the Company’s past or 
future exploration efforts will be successful, that any production therefrom will be obtained or continued, or 
that any such production which is attempted will be profitable.  

A local epidemic or a major global pandemic (e.g. COVID-19) could have a material adverse impact on the 
Company’s ability to operate due to worker absences, supply chain disruptions, information technology system 
constraints, government interventions, market volatility and overall economic uncertainty.  
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For more information on these and other risks and uncertainties, see the risks described in the Company's most 
recently filed Annual Information Form, news releases and technical reports.  

Technical Information 
 

All technical information in this MD&A has been prepared under the supervision of George Read, Senior 
Technical Advisor, Professional Geoscientist in the Provinces of Saskatchewan and British Columbia and Mark 
Shimell, Project Manager, Professional Geoscientist in the Province of Saskatchewan, who are the Company’s 
“Qualified Persons” under NI 43-101. 
 

Caution regarding Forward-looking Statements 
 

This MD&A contains forward-looking statements as defined by certain securities laws, including the "safe harbour" provisions of 
Canadian securities legislation and the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking information is 
often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "plan", "intend", "forecast", "target", 
"project", "guidance", "may", "will", "should", "could", "estimate", "predict" or similar words suggesting future outcomes or language 
suggesting an outlook. In particular, statements regarding the Company's future operations, future exploration and development 
activities or other development plans constitute forward-looking statements. By their nature, statements referring to mineral reserves, 
mineral resources or the PEA constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements contained or implied in this MD&A 
include, but are not limited to, statements relating to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; statements regarding Rio 
Tinto Canada’s future plans and intentions including with respect to the Project; statements regarding programs previously performed 
by Rio Tinto Canada; statements regarding future programs by Rio Tinto Canada; statements related to diamond breakage and other 
reporting; disclosure regarding the economics and project parameters presented in the PEA, including, without limitation, IRR, NPV and 
other costs and economic information, carats of diamonds to be recovered, after-tax payback period, tonnes of kimberlite to be mined, 
carats per tonne to be recovered (grade), diamond prices, project life, life of mine, capital costs, and length of pre-production period; 
statements related to mineral resources and/or reserves; statements related to the approval of the development of the Star - Orion 
South Diamond Project; statements relating to future development of the Star - Orion South Diamond Project and associated timelines; 
statements with respect to environmental permitting and approvals; the Company's need for and intention to seek additional financing; 
statements with respect to metallurgical and diamond investigations, assessments and test work including diamond breakage studies; 
the potential proportion of Type IIa diamonds in the Star and Orion South kimberlites and the potential for the recovery of large, high-
quality diamonds. 
 

These forward-looking statements are based on the Company's current beliefs as well as assumptions made by and information 
currently available to it and involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific. Risks exist that forward-looking 
statements will not be achieved due to a number of factors including, but not limited to, developments in world diamond markets, 
changes in diamond valuations, risks relating to fluctuations in the Canadian dollar and other currencies relative to the US dollar, 
changes in exploration, development or mining plans due to exploration results and changing budget priorities of Rio Tinto Canada or 
the Company, the nature and outcome of studies, analyses, criteria or conditions that Rio Tinto Canada may consider relevant to its 
assessment of whether to seek to further invest in the Project, the effects of competition in the markets in which the Company operates, 
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, risks related to diamond breakage from extraction and diamond recovery, risks related to the 
Company’s need for additional financing and the Company’s ability to raise that financing, the impact of changes in the laws and 
regulations regulating mining exploration and development, judicial or regulatory judgments and legal proceedings, operational and 
infrastructure risks and the additional risks described in the Company's most recently filed Annual Information Form, annual and interim 
MD&A, news releases and technical reports. The Company's anticipation of and success in managing the foregoing risks could cause 
actual results to differ materially from what is anticipated in such forward-looking statements. 
 

Although the Company considers the assumptions contained in forward-looking statements to be reasonable based on information 
currently available to it, those assumptions may prove to be incorrect. When making decisions with respect to the Company, investors 
and others should not place undue reliance on these statements and should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other 
uncertainties and potential events. Unless required by applicable securities laws, the Company does not undertake to update any 
forward-looking statement that is made herein. 
 

Additional Information 
 

Additional information related to the Company, including the latest available Annual Information Form, is 
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Star Diamond Corporation are the 
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. 
 
Management, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, has prepared the consolidated financial statements. 
The consolidated financial statements include some amounts that are based on best estimates 
and judgments.  
 
The management of the Company, in furtherance of the integrity and objectivity of data in the 
consolidated financial statements, has developed and maintains a system of internal accounting 
controls. Management believes the internal accounting controls provide reasonable assurance 
that financial records are reliable and form a proper basis for preparation of consolidated 
financial statements and that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded. The internal 
accounting control process includes management’s communication to employees of policies 
that govern ethical business conduct. 
 
The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
principally through its audit committee, consisting entirely of outside directors. The audit 
committee reviewed the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements and 
recommended their approval to the Board of Directors. The shareholders’ auditors have full 
access to the audit committee, with and without management being present. 
 
The shareholders’ auditor, KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, in accordance with 
Canadian Auditing Standards, have examined these consolidated financial statements and their 
independent professional opinion on the fairness of the consolidated financial statements is 
attached. 
 
 
 
“Ewan Mason”     “Richard Johnson”           
Ewan Mason      Richard Johnson 
Interim Chief Executive Officer    Chief Financial Officer 
 
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan 
March 29, 2023 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Star Diamond Corporation 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Star Diamond Corporation (the Entity) which 

comprise: 

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2022 and December 31,

2021

• the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the years then ended

• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies (hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 3 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Entity requires 

additional funding to finance its operating activities through its 2023 fiscal year. 

As stated in Note 3 in the financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other matters 

as set forth in Note 3 in the financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may 

cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

In addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section 

of the auditor’s report, we have determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to 

be communicated in our auditor’s report. 

Evaluation of Indicators of Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

Description of the Matter 

We draw attention to Notes 4(g), 5(b), 5(e), and Note 10 to the financial statements. The Entity has 

recorded an impairment of $66,344 thousand on exploration and evaluation assets. Exploration and 

evaluation assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting period to determine whether facts 

and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. 

Management exercises judgment in determining when an indicator of impairment exists. In making 

this determination, Management uses several criteria in its assessment of impairment indicators for 

exploration and evaluation assets including factors such as rights to explore, whether substantive 

expenditures on further exploration and evaluation resource assets are budgeted, results of 

exploration and evaluation activities on the exploration and evaluation assets and whether sufficient 

data exists to indicate that the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is unlikely to be 

recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 

Why the Matter is a Key Audit Matter 

We identified the evaluation of indicators of impairment of exploration and evaluation assets as a key 

audit matter. This matter represented an area of significant risk of material misstatement given the 

magnitude of exploration and evaluation assets.  This matter was of most significance due to the 

auditor judgment required to evaluate the results of our audit procedures regarding the Entity’s 

determination of whether factors, individually or in the aggregate, resulted in indicators of impairment. 
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How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit 

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter: 

We read information regarding results of exploration and evaluation activities on the exploration and 

evaluation assets included in technical reports and internal and external communications to assess 

the Entity’s ability to continue or discontinue exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the 

specific area.  

We read the exploration budget for the upcoming year to determine whether there are plans to incur 

further exploration and evaluation expenditures. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information 

included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian Securities 

Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will 

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for 

indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated.   

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 

Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 

performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact in the auditor’s report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as management determines 

is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting 

process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of

our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to

continue as a going concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant

ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or

business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

• Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those matters

that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our auditor’s report because the

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

Chartered Professional Accountants  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditor’s report is Scott Douglas Verity. 

Saskatoon, Canada 

March 29, 2023 
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(Cdn$ in thousands) 2022 2021

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,610$               1,265$               
Receivables 18                       149                     
Prepaids 50                       80                       

2,678                 1,494                 

Restricted cash (note 7) -                          622                     
Investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc. (note 8) 232                     668                     
Property and equipment (note 9) 160                     246                     
Exploration and evaluation assets (note 10) -                          66,344               

3,070$               69,374$             

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 19(b)) 678                     2,839$               
Current portion of lease liability (note 9) 39                       79                       
Current portion of environmental rehabilitation provision (note 13) -                          169                     

717                     3,087                 

Lease liability (note 9) -                          38                       
Environmental rehabilitation provision (note 13) -                          96                       
Contingent consideration (note 11) -                          940                     

 

Shareholders' equity:
Share capital (note 15) 854,938             849,973             
Warrants (note 15) 2,495                 1,194                 
Broker warrants (note 15) 41                       96                       
Contributed surplus 34,618               34,901               
Accumulated deficit (889,739)            (820,951)            

2,353                 65,213               

3,070$               69,374$             
Going Concern (note 3)

On behalf of the Board:

"Lisa Riley" "Ewan D. Mason"
Lisa Riley, Audit Chair Ewan D. Mason, Chair

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Star Diamond Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

For the years ended December 31
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(Cdn$ in thousands, except for share data) 2022 2021

Income

Interest and other income 42$                     39$                     

Expenses

Administration 2,110                 1,923                 
Consulting and professional fees 74                       3,062                 
Corporate development 41                       54                       
Exploration and evaluation (note 12) 757                     2,968                 

2,982                 8,007                 

Loss before the under noted items (2,940)                (7,968)                

Unwinding of discount of environmental reclamation provision (note 13) (4)                        (4)                        
Unwinding of discount of lease liability (4)                        (8)                        
Impairment charge (note 10) (66,344)              -                          
Contingent consideration (note 11) 940                     -                          
Investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc. (note 8) (436)                   291                     

Total comprehensive loss for the year (68,788)$            (7,689)$              

Net loss per share
Basic and diluted (note 16) (0.15)$                (0.02)$                

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (000's) 469,298 451,991
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended December 31

Star Diamond Corporation
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(Cdn$ in thousands) 2022 2021

Cash provided by (used in):
Operations:

Net loss (68,788)$            (7,689)$              
Adjustments:

Depreciation on property and equipment 98                       96                       
Gain on disposal of property and equipment -                          1                         
Investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc. (note 8) 436                     (291)                   
Impairment charge 66,344               -                          
Contingent consideration (940)                   -                          
Fair value of share-based payments expensed (note 17) 164                     566                     
Unwinding of discount and changes to environmental rehabilitation provision (265)                   (142)                   
Unwinding of discount and changes to lease liability 4                         8                         

Net change in non-cash operating working capital items:
Receivables 131                     (7)                        
Prepaids 30                       (44)                     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,161)                2,146                 

(4,947)                (5,356)                
Investing:

Purchases of property and equipment (12)                     (5)                        
Restricted cash (note 7) 622                     -                          

610                     (5)                        

Financing:

Issuances of equity through financings (net of issue costs) 4,863                 1,935                 
Issuances of equity from option, warrant and broker warrant exercises 901                     -                          
Lease liability payments (82)                     (83)                     

5,682                 1,852                 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,345                 (3,509)                
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,265                 4,774                 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,610$               1,265$               

Cash and cash equivalents consists of: 

Cash 2,610$               1,265$               
2,610$               1,265$               

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Star Diamond Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31
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(Cdn$ in thousands) 2022 2021

Share capital (note 15)

Balance, beginning of year 849,973$           849,162$         
Shares issued (net of issue costs) 4,965                  811                  
Balance, end of year 854,938$           849,973$         

Warrants (note 15)

Balance, beginning of year 1,194$                371$                
Issued 1,449                  1,047               
Exercised (133)                    -                        
Expired (15)                      (224)                 
Balance, end of year 2,495$                1,194$             

Broker warrants (note 15)

Balance, beginning of year 96$                     176$                
Issued 41                       77                     
Exercised (96)                      -                        
Expired -                           (157)                 
Balance, end of year 41$                     96$                  

Contributed surplus 

Balance, beginning of year 34,901$              33,954$           
Share-based payments - options granted (note 17) 14                       196                  
Share-based payments - deferred share units (note 17) -                           130                  
Share-based payments - restricted share units (note 17) 150                     240                  
Options exercised (note 17) (41)                      -                        
Restricted share unit redemptions (note 15) (421)                    -                        
Warrants expired 15                       381                  
Balance, end of year 34,618$              34,901$           

Accumulated deficit

Balance, beginning of year (820,951)$          (813,262)$       
Net loss for the year (68,788)              (7,689)              
Balance, end of year (889,739)$          (820,951)$       

Total Shareholders' equity 2,353$                65,213$           

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Star Diamond Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

For the years ended December 31
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STAR DIAMOND CORPORATION 
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the year ended December 31, 2022 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted) 
 
1. Corporate information 
 

Star Diamond Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act on 
April 29, 1985 and its shares are publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the 
Company are the exploration, development and production of diamonds. The Company is located at 600 – 224 
4th Avenue South, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada. 

 
2. Basis of preparation 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022 were authorized 
for issue by the Company’s Board on March 29, 2023. The consolidated financial statements of the Company 
and all its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The Company’s financial statements 
have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except as disclosed, using the Company’s functional currency of 
Canadian dollars.  

 
3. Going concern 

 
These financial statements are prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern 
and realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. 
Management is aware, in making its going concern assessment, of material uncertainties related to events and 
conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. At December 
31, 2022, the Company had working capital of $2.0 million including cash of $2.6 million. Given that cash flow’s 
from operations are negative, the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern and fund its expenses 
in an orderly manner will require further equity issues or other forms of financings in 2023 and beyond.  
 

There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining required financing at an acceptable cost 
as and when needed or at all. Failure to obtain additional financing on a timely basis may cause the Company 
to postpone exploration and/or evaluation plans, forfeit rights in its properties or reduce or terminate its 
operations.  
 

These financial statements do not include any adjustments to carrying values of assets and liabilities, reported 
expense and the statement of financial position classifications used, that would be necessary if the going 
concern assumption were not appropriate. 

 
4. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The Company’s principal accounting policies are outlined below: 
 
a. Basis of consolidation 

i. Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries.  All intra-company transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. The Company’s significant subsidiaries include Kensington Resources Ltd. and Shore Mining 
and Development Corporation, both wholly-owned Canadian corporations. 
 

ii. Interests in joint operations and other contractual arrangements 
A joint operation involves joint control and offers joint ownership by the Company and other venturers of 
assets contributed to or acquired for the purpose of a joint arrangement, without the formation of a 
corporation, partnership or other entity. Where the Company’s activities are conducted through a joint 
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operation, the Company recognizes its share of the jointly-controlled assets, and liabilities it has incurred, 
related revenue and operating costs in the financial statements and a share of their production, if any. 
 

A contractual arrangement may involve circumstances in which the Company and other parties contribute 
or acquire assets, without the formation of a corporation, partnership or other entity, where joint control 
of the arrangement no longer exists or where there is not joint control of the arrangement. Where the 
Company’s activities are conducted through such a contractual arrangement, the Company recognizes its 
share of the assets, liabilities it has incurred, related revenue and operating costs in the financial 
statements and a share of their production, if any. 
 

When the Company, acting as an operator, receives reimbursement of direct and indirect costs recharged 
to the other venturers such recharges represent reimbursement of costs that the operator incurred as an 
agent for the arrangement. The Company does not recognize any consideration for the value of work 
performed by the other participants in a joint operation or a contractual agreement. 

 
b. Financial instruments 

i. Non-derivative financial assets 
IFRS 9 includes three classifications for financial assets; measurement at fair value through profit or loss, 
measurement at fair value through comprehensive income and measurement at amortized cost.  

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
A financial asset is classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) upon initial recognition. 
Financial assets designated as FVPL are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized in 
profit or loss.  Attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets 
designated as FVPL are comprised of the Company’s equity investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income 
Entities can make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to classify the instruments as measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), with all subsequent changes in fair value 
being recognized in other comprehensive income. This election is available for each separate 
investment. The Company has not made this election. 
 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost are comprised of the Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents, short-term investments, restricted cash and receivables.  Such assets are recognized 
initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 
financial assets measured at amortized cost are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, less impairment losses. 

 
ii. Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and financial 
liabilities at amortized cost.   
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
A financial liability is classified as FVPL upon initial recognition. Financial liabilities designated as FVPL 
are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized in profit or loss.  Attributable transaction 
costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  
 

Financial liabilities classified as fair value through profit or loss are comprised of the contingent 
consideration discussed in note 11. 

 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. 
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Financial liabilities at amortized cost are comprised of the Company’s accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities. 
 
Contingent consideration 
Contingent consideration is classified as a financial liability or equity and is measured at fair value on 
the acquisition date. The Company’s contingent consideration, as discussed in note 11, is re-measured 
to fair value at each reporting date, with changes in value included in the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss. 

 
iii. Impairment 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications of significant financial difficulty and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows. 
 

Under IFRS 9, the Company recognizes a loss allowance using the expected credit loss model on financial 
assets that are measured at amortized cost. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash 
shortfalls expected. Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial 
asset. 

 
c. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term investments that, upon acquisition, have a term to 
maturity of three months or less.  

 
d. Short-term investments 

Short-term investments include highly liquid interest-bearing investments with maturities between three and 
twelve months. 
 

e. Property and equipment 
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Such 
cost includes cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalization when the cost of replacing the parts is 
incurred.  Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of 
the property and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalization. All other repairs and 
maintenance are expensed as incurred.  Property and equipment costs are tangible. 
 

Depreciation is calculated using the declining balance method except for leases and leasehold improvements, 
which are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a term equal to the remaining life of the current lease 
agreement or the estimated useful lives.  Annual depreciation rates are as follows: 

   
 Automotive equipment 30% to 40%  
 Buildings, leases and leasehold improvements 10% to 20% 
 Computer equipment 30% 
 Computer software 100%  

 Furniture and equipment 20% to 30% 
 

The carrying value of items of property and equipment is reviewed for impairment at each reporting period or 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated and compared to the carrying value.  Where the carrying 
values of an asset exceed its estimated recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount and the impairment is included in “administration” or “exploration and 
evaluation” expense in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
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An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is 
included in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss in the year the item is derecognized.   
 

f. Leases 
 

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. At the 
commencement date of the lease (the date the underlying asset is available for use) the Company recognizes 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the 
lessee. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Cost of right-of-use assets is 
comprised of the initial measurement amount of the lease liabilities recognized, adjusted for: any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date; lease incentives received; initial direct costs incurred; 
and estimated costs to dismantle or remove the underlying asset. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset. Right-of-use assets are assessed for 
impairment at each reporting date. 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently measured by 
increasing its carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and 
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. The carrying amount of a lease liability is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments or if the company changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a termination, extension or purchase option. The remeasurement amount of the lease 
liability is recognized as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 
 

The Company has elected not to recognize assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease 
term of twelve months or less, and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments associated with these leases 
are recognized as an expense over the lease term. 
 

g. Exploration and evaluation 
 

i. Pre-permit costs 
Pre-permit costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. These costs are intangible. 
 

ii. Exploration and evaluation costs 
Once the legal right to explore has been established, exploration and evaluation expenditures are 
expensed as incurred, until the Company concludes that a future economic benefit is more likely than not 
to be realized through future development and production.  
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred on permits where a National Instrument (“NI”) 43-101 
compliant reserve and a final feasibility study have not yet been completed are expensed during this phase 
and included in “exploration and evaluation” expense in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 

Upon the establishment of a NI 43-101 compliant reserve and the completion of a final feasibility study (at 
which point, the Company considers it probable that economic benefits will be realized) and the Company 
has made a development decision, the Company capitalizes any further costs incurred with respect to 
expenses incurred for development of the asset. Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured 
at cost and classified as tangible assets.  
 

Once NI 43-101 compliant reserves are established and development is approved by the Company, 
previously capitalized exploration and evaluation assets that will be transferred to “mine development 
costs” are tested for impairment on a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) basis.  If the carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount, the difference is charged to the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. No 
amortization of exploration and evaluation assets is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase 
nor while it is under construction. 
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Exploration and evaluation assets acquired in a business combination or through purchase of an asset are 
initially recognized at fair value. These costs are intangible. Each reporting period, the Company assesses 
CGUs to determine whether an indication of impairment exists, the CGU being the lowest level of 
integrated assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or groups of assets. Where an indicator of impairment exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount 
is made, which is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where the 
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. These assets are subsequently stated at cost 
less accumulated impairment. 
 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting period to determine 
whether facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. 
In circumstances where indicators of impairment exist, an impairment test is required to determine if the 
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. To 
the extent this occurs, the asset is assessed for impairment and any impairment is fully provided against 
the carrying amount, in the financial year in which this is determined. 
 

An impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount. The carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to its 
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset 
or CGU in prior years. The reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statements of 
loss and comprehensive loss.  

 
h. Employment Benefits 
 

i. Wages and salaries, and annual leave 
Wages, salaries and other compensation are measured on an undiscounted basis and are recognized as 
the related service is provided. The liability for employee entitlements to wages and salaries represents 
the amount which the Company has a present obligation to pay resulting from services provided up to 
the reporting date.  A provision exists for annual leave as it is earned and is measured at the amount 
expected to be paid when it is settled and includes all related costs. 
 

ii. Short-term benefits 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as 
the related service is provided.  A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-
term cash bonus plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount 
as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.   
 

iii. Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Company is committed to provide 
termination benefits in accordance with certain contracts provided to officers of the Company.  If benefits 
are payable for more than 12 months after the reporting date, then those benefits are discounted to their 
present value. 
 

iv. Share-based payment transactions 
The grant-date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees, officers or directors is 
recognized as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the participant 
unconditionally become entitled to the awards.  The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to 
reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are 
expected to be met. 
 
Total compensation and benefits (including amounts reported in note 18) for the year ended December 
31, 2022 was $1,895 thousand (2021 - $1,753 thousand). 
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December 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 
Wages, salaries and short-term benefits $    815 $       773 
Consulting and management fees 916 414 
Share-based payments     164     566 
Total compensation and benefits paid  $ 1,895 $ 1,753 

 
 

i. Provisions  
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount is recognized in the 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 

Environmental rehabilitation 
In 2021, the Company was required to decommission and rehabilitate exploration and evaluation sites to 
a condition acceptable to the relevant authorities. 
 

The Company recognized the fair value of a liability for environmental rehabilitation in the period in which 
the Company is legally or constructively required to remediate, if a reasonable estimate of fair value can 
be made, based on an estimated future cash settlement of the environmental rehabilitation obligation, 
discounted at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The capitalized environmental rehabilitation cost was amortized on the 
same basis as the related asset. The liability was adjusted for the accretion of the discounted obligation 
and any changes in the amount or timing of the underlying future cash flows. Significant judgments and 
estimates were involved in forming expectations of the amounts and timing of environmental 
rehabilitation cash flows. Where there was a change in the expected decommissioning and rehabilitation 
costs, the value of the provision and any related asset were adjusted and the effect was recognized in the 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss on a prospective basis over the remaining life of the operation. 
 

The offsetting cost was treated as an “exploration and evaluation” expense until a NI 43-101 reserve has 
been established and a final feasibility report completed.  Once a NI 43-101 reserve has been established 
and a final feasibility study completed, the estimated cost (on a discounted basis) of any new 
environmental disturbances are capitalized. 

 
j. Income tax 

Income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate adjusted by temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  
However, the deferred income tax effect is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.   
 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses. 
 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount 
and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 
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Deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognized directly in equity are also recognized directly in 
equity. 
 

k. Flow-through shares 
The Company may finance a portion of its exploration and evaluation activities through the issuance of flow-
through shares. Upon the sale of flow-through shares, the Company recognizes a liability for the excess 
purchase price paid by the investors over the fair value of common shares without the flow-through feature 
(the “premium”) and records the fair value of the shares in equity. When the expenditures are incurred, the 
liability is reversed and a deferred tax liability is recorded for the amount of the benefits renounced to the 
investors. To the extent the Company has unrecognized tax benefits from loss carry forwards or other tax pools 
in excess of book value, the Company will offset the future income tax liability resulting in the premium being 
recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. When incurred, the Company accounts for taxes 
applied to unspent flow through proceeds as administration expenses. 
 

l. Share-based payments 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of share-based payments in the form of 
deferred share units (“DSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”) and restricted share units (“RSUs”) is 
determined based on the five-day volume weighted average trading price of the Company’s shares preceding 
the date of grant and the units that are expected to vest. The Company does not intend to make cash payments 
and there is no history of the Company making cash payments under these plans and, as such, the DSUs, PSUs 
and RSUs are accounted for within shareholders’ equity. The fair value of share-based payments in the form of 
options is determined using the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair 
value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in note 17.   

 
m. Revenue and interest income 

Sales of rough diamonds, if any, are recognized when control transfers to the customer, the amount of sales 
can be measured reliably and the receipts of future economic benefits are probable. Sales are measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received or receivable. All of the Company's property interests are currently in 
the exploration and evaluation stage and therefore do not generate sales revenue. 
 

Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues. Other revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable for goods and services in the normal course of business, net of discounts 
and other sales-related taxes. 
 

5. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on 
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. 
 

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in total 
comprehensive profit or loss in the year of the change, if the change affects that year only, or in the year of the 
change and future years, if the change affects both. 
 
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 

 
a. Identification of CGUs 

CGUs are defined as the lowest level of integrated assets for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
that are largely independent of cash flows from other assets or groups of assets. The classification of assets 
into CGUs requires significant judgment and interpretations. Management assesses its CGUs as being an 
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individual mine site that may include multiple ore bodies. This is the lowest level for which cash inflows are 
largely independent of those of other assets. 
 

b. Impairment indicators for exploration and evaluation assets 
Management exercises judgment in determining when an indicator of impairment or reversal of impairment 
exists. In making this determination, Management uses several criteria in its assessment of impairment 
indicators for exploration and evaluation assets including factors such as the period for which the Company 
has the right to explore, expected renewals of exploration rights, whether substantive expenditures on further 
exploration and evaluation resource assets are budgeted, results of exploration and evaluation activities on 
the exploration and evaluation assets and whether sufficient data exists to indicate that the carrying amount 
of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by 
sale.   
 

c. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
The determination of an NI 43-101 reserve is itself an estimation process that requires varying degrees of 
uncertainty depending on sub-classification and these estimates which directly impact the point of deferral of 
exploration and evaluation expenditure. This requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions about future events or circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction 
operation can be established. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes 
available. If, after an expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 
expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss 
in the period when the new information becomes available.  
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management that have the most significant risk of causing 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial statements are 
discussed below:  

 
d. Reserve and resource estimates 

Reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from the 
Company’s mineral properties. The Company estimates its reserves and mineral resources based on 
information compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological data on the size, depth and 
shape of the ore body, and require complex geological judgments to interpret the data.  The estimation of 
recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimations of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, 
future capital requirements, and production costs along with geological assumptions and judgments made in 
estimating the size and grade of the ore body. Changes in the reserve or resource estimates may impact upon 
the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets, property and equipment, environmental rehabilitation 
provision, recognition of deferred tax assets, and depreciation and amortization charges. 
 

e. Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 
Where an indicator of impairment or reversal of impairment exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount of 
exploration and evaluation assets is made, which is based on the greater of fair value less cost of disposal and 
value in use. The determination of the recoverable amount requires the use of estimates and assumptions such 
as discount rates, future commodity prices, future foreign exchange rates, future royalty rates, recoverable 
grades, and future capital and operating expenditures. Fair value for exploration and evaluation assets is 
generally determined as the present value of estimated future cash flows arising from the continued use of the 
asset. Cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. If the Company does not 
have sufficient information about a particular mineral resource property to meaningfully estimate future cash 
flows, the fair value is estimated by management through comparison to similar market assets and, where 
available, industry benchmarks.  
 

f. Environmental rehabilitation provision  
Environmental rehabilitation provisions have been provided for based on the Company’s internal estimates 
and current regulatory requirements. Assumptions, based on the current economic environment and cash 
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flows, have been made which management believe are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future 
liability. These estimates take into account any material changes to the assumptions that occur when reviewed 
regularly by management. Significant changes in estimates of restoration standards and techniques may result 
in changes to provisions. Actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend on future market prices for the 
rehabilitation costs which will reflect the market condition at the time the rehabilitation costs are actually 
incurred. The final cost of the currently recognized rehabilitation provision may be higher or lower than 
currently provided for.   
 

g. Contingent Consideration 
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for contingent consideration requires judgment in 
determining and measuring the fair value. This requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions about future events or circumstances, including but not limited to assumptions relating to 
assessing probabilities of the contingent consideration and timing of the contingent payment. Estimates and 
assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. 
 

h. Share-based payment transactions 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions 
of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model 
including the expected life of the stock option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about 
them.   
 

6. Changes in IFRS  
 

a. IFRS standards, amendments and interpretations effective during the period 
 

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB has not issued any new 
standards which became effective for the reporting period that would have a material impact on the Company. 

 
b. IFRS standards issued but not yet effective 

 
 

i. IAS 1 – Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements which require entities to 
disclose their “material” accounting policy information rather than their “significant” accounting policies. 
The amendments explain that accounting policy information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring 
that information could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of the 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments also clarify that 
accounting policy information may be material because of its nature, even if the related amounts are 
immaterial. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier 
application is permitted. The extent of the impact of adoption of these amendments has not yet been 
determined. 
 

ii. IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 
The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
which introduce a definition of accounting estimates and provide other clarifications to help entities 
distinguish accounting policies from accounting estimates. Under the amendments, accounting estimates 
are defined as “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. 
The amendments also emphasize that a change in an accounting estimate that results from new 
information or new developments is not an error correction, and that changes in an input or a 
measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate are considered changes in accounting 
estimates if those changes in an input or measurement technique are not the result of an error correction. 
This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application 
is permitted. The extent of the impact of adoption of these amendments has not yet been determined. 
 

35



 

iii. IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 
The IASB has published Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1) which 
clarifies the guidance on whether a liability should be classified as either current or non-current. The 
amendments: 
• clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should only be based on rights that 
are in place "at the end of the reporting period"; 
• clarify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to 
defer settlement of a liability; and 
• make clear that settlement includes transfers to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other 
assets or services that result in extinguishment of the liability. 
 
This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Earlier application 
is permitted. The extent of the impact of adoption of this amendment has not yet been determined. 
 

 

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, there are no other IFRSs or IFRIC 
interpretations that have been issued and are not yet effective that are expected to have a material impact on 
the Company. 

 
7. Restricted cash 
 

During 2022, notice was received from the Ministry of Environment releasing and cancelling the Company’s 
fully funded letters of credit previously held by the Ministry for environmental rehabilitation (note 13).  As a 
result, at December 31, 2022, the Company had $nil (December 31, 2021 - $622 thousand) in short-term 
investments held as security for letters of credit.  
 

8. Investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc. 
 

At December 31, 2022, the Company held 5,807 thousand shares or 11.59% (December 31, 2021 – 5,807 
thousand shares) of Wescan Goldfields Inc. (“Wescan”), a publicly traded company on the TSX Venture 
exchange. The Company considers certain judgments and assumptions when assessing whether significant 
influence exists over its investments. This includes an assessment of the Company’s ability to participate in 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. The existence and effect of potential voting rights held 
by the investor or other entities were also considered.  
 

IFRS 9 requires all marketable securities to be measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in 
profit or loss (“FVPL”) based on the Company’s accounting policy. At December 31, 2022, the carrying value of 
this investment was $232 thousand (December 31, 2021 – $668 thousand). During the year ended December 
31, 2022, there was a $436 thousand decrease in the carrying value of its investment in Wescan. 

 
 

9. Property and equipment 
 

 

Buildings,  
Leases  

and  
Leasehold 

Improvements  
(a) 

Computer 
Software and 

Equipment 

Furniture  
and 

Equipment 

 
 
Total 

Cost     
Balance – December 31, 2020             $   731       $ 100                   $ 439                    $  1,270 
    Acquisitions - 5 - 5 
    Disposals                   (10)                 (36)                   (5)                    (51) 
Balance – December 31, 2021             $   721       $   69                   $ 434                    $  1,224 
    Acquisitions - 12 - 12 
    Disposals                        -                  (25)                    (5)                  (30) 
Balance – December 31, 2022 $   721 $   56 $ 429 $  1,206 
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Buildings,  
Leases  

and  
Leasehold 

Improvements  
(a) 

Computer 
Software and 

Equipment 

Furniture  
and 

Equipment 

 
 
Total 

Accumulated depreciation and   
    impairment 

    

Balance – December 31, 2020 $ (413)            $  (95)           $ (424)                    $    (932) 
    Charge for the year                     (91)                        (3)                        (3) (97) 
    Eliminated on disposals 10 36 5 51 
Balance – December 31, 2021 $ (494)            $  (62)           $ (422)                    $    (978) 
    Charge for the year                    (91)                       (5)                       (2)                     (98) 
    Eliminated on disposals - 25 5 30 
Balance – December 31, 2022 $ (585)            $ (42)           $ (419)                    $ (1,046) 

 

 

Buildings,  
Leases  

and  
Leasehold 

Improvements  
(a) 

Computer 
Software and 

Equipment 

Furniture  
and 

Equipment 

 
 
Total 

Net book value     
Balance – December 31, 2021            $      227                             $       7                       $       12             $     246  
Balance – December 31, 2022            $      136                             $     14                       $       10            $     160  

 
(a) Upon adoption of IFRS 16 – Leases in 2019, the Company recognized a lease liability and associated right-

of-use asset. As at December 31, 2022, the carrying value of the right-of-use asset was $34 thousand (2021 
- $103 thousand) and the carrying value of the lease liability was $39 thousand (2021 - $117 thousand) 
including the current portion of the lease liability of $39 thousand (2021 - $79 thousand). During the year 
ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized $69 thousand of depreciation (2021 - $69 thousand). 
The Company also incurred $82 thousand in lease payments (2021 - $83 thousand) and $4 thousand of 
interest expense (2021 - $8 thousand) relating to the unwinding of the discount of the lease liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 
10. Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
      Fort à la Corne 
 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company holds a 25% interest in the Fort à la Corne properties located in the       
central part of Saskatchewan, Canada (“Fort à la Corne properties”) through a contractual agreement with Rio 
Tinto Exploration Canada Inc. (“Rio Tinto Canada”). These properties are accounted for as one cash-generating 
unit. The carrying value of the Fort à la Corne properties represents the acquisition of minority interests of the 
Fort à la Corne properties since 2005, net of impairments.  

 

During 2017, the Company acquired (the "Newmont Acquisition") from Newmont Canada FN Holdings ULC 
("Newmont") all of Newmont's participating interest in the Fort à la Corne joint venture, resulting in the 
Company owning 100% of the Fort à la Corne properties.  The Company concurrently entered into an Option 
to Joint Venture Agreement (the "Option Agreement") with Rio Tinto Canada pursuant to which the Company 
granted Rio Tinto Canada an option to earn up to a 60% interest in the Fort à la Corne properties on the terms 
and conditions contained in the Option Agreement. In November 2020, the Company received notice (the 
“Exercise Notice”) from Rio Tinto Canada advising that Rio Tinto Canada was exercising all four of its options 
under the Option Agreement. Following a review of the Exercise Notice, the Company notified Rio Tinto Canada 
that Rio Tinto Canada’s purported exercise in November 2020 of its four options under the Option Agreement 
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did not comply with the terms of the Agreement. The Company commenced legal proceedings against Rio 
Tinto Canada in relation to Rio Tinto Canada’s purported exercise.  

 

In December 2021, the Company entered into binding agreements with Rio Tinto  Canada that comprehensively 
resolve all disputes between them. As part of these agreements, the Company and Rio Tinto Canada agreed to 
revised arrangements. Under these new arrangements: 
 
• All expenditures on the Fort à la Corne mineral properties prior to December 31, 2021 will be the sole 

responsibility of Rio Tinto Canada; 
• All expenditures between January 1, 2022 and the public announcement of a decision to develop a 

diamond mining operation, based upon the completion of a positive feasibility study, would initially be 
advanced by Rio Tinto Canada.  The Company is not required to reimburse Rio Tinto Canada for the 
Company’s share of these expenditures unless and until commercial production has been achieved.  The 
effect of the foregoing is that the Company has no obligation to contribute additional investment to the 
project until a decision to develop the mine is made and publicly announced; 

• Once the decision to develop the mine has been made and announced, the Company will have six months 
to begin contributing the Company’s share of the capital costs and expenditures required to build the 
mine; and 

• In exchange for these amendments, the parties have agreed that the participating interests of Rio Tinto 
Canada and the Company have been adjusted to 75% for Rio Tinto Canada and 25% for the Company.       

 

These arrangements were intended to ensure that key project milestones, and the certainty associated with 
them, will have been achieved before the Company has to contribute any additional capital. 

 

On June 28, 2022, Rio Tinto Canada exercised its voting power at a meeting of the Fort à la Corne joint venture 
management committee to place the Fort à la Corne properties on care and maintenance through December 
31, 2022. Rio Tinto Canada also advised that, subject to fulfilling its existing obligations, it does not intend to 
commit additional capital to the Fort à la Corne properties during 2022 beyond what is necessary for care and 
maintenance. Rio Tinto Canada also advised the Company that it intends to conduct a near-term review of its 
alternatives regarding the Fort à la Corne properties, including its potential exit. 
 
On October 21, 2022, the Company announced that Rio Tinto Canada had stated that it intended to fully de-
mobilize the leased on-site camp in early 2023, and that it continues with site care and maintenance activities 
to fulfill its existing obligations, including certain progressive site cleanup and remediation programs. 
 
The recent actions by Rio Tinto Canada, which are outside the control of the Company, have resulted in a high 
degree of uncertainty over the future of the Project.  As a result, during the fourth quarter, the Company has 
recognized a non-cash after-tax impairment of $66,344 thousand on its 25% share of the Fort à la Corne asset 
leaving it fully impaired at December 31, 2022.  The Company continues to discuss alternatives with Rio Tinto 
Canada to determine the future of the Project.  These discussions are ongoing and there is no certainty that 
any agreement will be reached between the Company and Rio Tinto Canada. 
 
Buffalo Hills-JV 
 
Pursuant to a quitclaim, surrender and assignment of interest agreement dated May 11, 2022, the Company 
acquired an additional joint venture interest of approximately 17% in the Buffalo Hills-JV. As a result, at 
December 31, 2022 the Company holds 50% (December 31, 2021 - 33%) interest in the exploration and 
evaluation properties and assets of the Buffalo Hills-JV. Canterra Minerals Corporation (“Canterra”) holds the 
remaining 50% interest. Canterra is the Operator of the Buffalo Hills-JV. The carrying value of the Buffalo Hills-
JV properties at December 31, 2022 is $nil (December 31, 2021 - $nil). 
 

11.  Contingent consideration 
 
As part of the acquisition of Newmont’s participating interest in the Fort à la Corne properties in 2017 (note 
10), the Company agreed that Newmont may receive a contingent payment in the aggregate amount of $3,200 
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thousand if a positive decision is made to develop a mine on the project. The Company, in its sole discretion 
(subject to regulatory approvals), may satisfy the contingent payment due to Newmont through a cash 
payment or the issuance of common shares. At December 31, 2022, given the recent actions of Rio Tinto 
Canada (note 10) the Company has determined that there is remote probability of a contingent payment and 
as a result, the fair value of the contingent consideration was determined to be $nil at December 31, 2022 
(December 31, 2021 - $940 thousand). 
 

12. Exploration and evaluation expenses 
 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation expense for the year ended December 31, is comprised of the 
following: 
 

 December 31, 
2022 

December 31,  
2021 

Fort à la Corne properties         
    Depreciation of property and equipment $          6 $          6 
    Exploration and evaluation 974 2,777 
    Revisions to environmental rehabilitation provision (note 13) (269) 140 
    Share-based payments (note 17) 6 30 
    Total 717 2,953 
Buffalo Hills property    
   Exploration and evaluation                   40                   15 
    Total                         40 15 
Total $  757 $  2,968 

 
13. Environmental rehabilitation provision 
 

   
Fort à la Corne 

properties 
Balance – December 31, 2020           $  407 
Settled during the year                (286) 
Revisions in estimates                140 
Unwinding of discount   4 
Balance – December 31, 2021           $  265 
Revisions in estimates                (269) 
Unwinding of discount   4 
Total   $       - 
Less: Estimate of current portion                                                             - 
Long term portion – December 31, 2022           $       - 

 
The environmental rehabilitation provision represented the estimated present value of decommissioning and 
rehabilitation costs relating to exploration and evaluation work conducted on the Fort à la Corne properties by 
the Company. The Company was previously required to decommission and rehabilitate exploration and 
evaluation sites to a condition acceptable to the relevant authorities. Provisions were based on the Company’s 
internal estimates and external information where available. 
 
During 2022, as a result of Rio Tinto Canada assuming responsibility for all of the Fort à la Corne properties 
remediation, the Company was released from its decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations.  The 
Company had also previously provided fully funded letters of credit as security for environmental reclamation 
provisions, as disclosed in note 7. 
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14. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 

Reconciliation between expected tax recovery for accounting purposes and actual recovery 
 
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the combined expected federal 
and provincial income tax rate to earnings before income taxes for the following reasons: 

 
 
 

December 31,   
2022 

December 31,  
2021 

Net loss before income taxes        $  (68,788) $  (7,689) 
  Combined federal and provincial tax rate 27% 27% 
Expected tax expense (recovery) (18,573) (2,076) 
Increase in taxes resulting from:   
    Permanent differences related to share unit plans 194 - 
    Non-deductible amounts 67 8 
    Renounced resource pools 270 848 
    Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 18,042 1,220 

Deferred income tax recovery $            - $            - 
 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets 
 

The following deferred tax assets have not been recognized: 
 

 December 31, 
2022 

December 31, 
2021 

Deferred tax assets   
   Exploration and evaluation $   97,220 $   79,308 
   Property and equipment 3,206 3,203 
   Non-capital loss carried forward 16,870 16,195 
   Capital loss carried forward 595 595 
   Share issue costs 129 113 
   Decommissioning and rehabilitation provision - 72 
   Contingent consideration - 254 
   Revaluation of investments 236 176 
   Other 90 433 
   Unrecognized deferred tax assets $  118,346 $  100,349 
   

The potential benefits of these carry-forward non-capital losses, capital losses and deductible temporary 
differences have not been recognized in these financial statements as it is not considered probable that 
sufficient future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. 
 
Tax losses 
 
As at December 31, 2022, the Company had estimated capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of 
$4,404 thousand (December 31, 2021 – $4,404 thousand).  These losses do not expire and may be utilized to 
reduce future capital gains, if any. 
 

As at December 31, 2022, the Company has estimated non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes 
that may be carried forward to reduce taxable income derived in future years.  A summary of these tax losses 
is provided below.  These tax losses will expire as follows: 

 
 

Year of Expiry 
Taxable losses 

 (in thousands) 
2026 $ 10,203 
2027 4,617 
2028 5,268 
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The Company also had unrecorded investment tax credits totaling $15.8 million (December 31, 2021 – $15.8 
million) relating to pre-production mining expenditures. These investment tax credits begin to expire starting 
in 2026. 
 

15. Share capital and reserves 
 

Authorized 
 
The authorized share capital of the Company consists of unlimited common shares with no par value. 
 
The common shares of the Company are entitled to dividends pro-rated when declared by the Board of 
Directors and to one vote per share at meetings of the shareholders of the Company. Upon dissolution or any 
other distribution of assets, the shareholders are entitled to receive a pro-rata share of such distribution. 
 

Common shares issued and fully paid: 
 

 
Common Shares 

(in thousands) 
Amount 

(in thousands) 
Balance – December 31, 2020 438,671 $ 849,162 
  Issuance of shares and warrants (net of issue costs) (a) 13,333 635 
  Issuance of finders fee shares shares (b) 800 176 
Balance – December 31, 2021 452,804 $ 849,973 
  Issuance of shares and warrants (net of issue costs) (c) 16,667 3,236 
  Issuance of finders fee shares and warrants (d) 468 137 
  Issuance of shares on redemption of restricted share units (e) 2,105 421 
  Issuance of shares on exercise of options (e) 375 112 
  Issuance of shares on exercise of warrants and broker warrants (e) 3,578 1,059 
Balance – December 31, 2022 475,997 $ 854,938 

 

(a) Unit financing 
 

During 2021, the Company issued 13,333 thousand common shares at a price of $0.15 per unit and 13,333 
thousand warrants, exercisable at a price of $0.25 per common share, for gross proceeds of $2,000 thousand.  
 

(b) Issuance of finders fee shares 
 

During 2021, the Company issued 800 thousand common shares of the Company (relating to 6% of the units 
issued pursuant to a finders fee agreement. The Company also issued 800 thousand warrants.  
 
 
 
 

2029 6,695 
2030 5,018 
2031 4,251 
2032 3,955 
2033 3,200 
2034 1,859 
2035 1,910 
2036 1,900 
2037 1,856 
2038 1,655 
2039 4,041 
2040 2,023 
2041 1,525 
2042 2,498 
Total $ 62,474 
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(c) Unit financing 
 

During 2022, the Company issued 16,667 thousand common shares at a price of $0.30 per unit and 16,667 
thousand warrants (note 15(e)), exercisable at a price of $0.40 per common share, for gross proceeds of $5,000 
thousand. 
 
 

 

(d) Issuance of finders fee shares 
 

During 2022, the Company issued 468 thousand common shares pursuant to finders fee agreements relating 
to the unit financing.  The Company also issued 468 thousand broker warrants (note 15(e)). 
 
(e) Nature and purpose of equity reserves 

Share-based payments reserve 

The share-based payments reserve is recognized within contributed surplus and is used to recognize the fair 
value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions provided to directors, officers and employees, 
including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. The fair value of stock options has been 
valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of share-based payments in the form of 
RSUs and DSUs was determined based on the five-day volume weighted average trading price of the Company’s 
shares preceding the date of grant. The fair value of these securities is added to the share-based payments 
reserve over the vesting period of the securities. Upon exercise, the corresponding fair value related to the 
security is removed from the share-based payments reserve and added to share capital.  Refer to note 17 for 
further details on these share-based payment plans. 

Broker warrants reserve 

On certain issues of common shares, the Company issued broker warrants as partial consideration to the agent 
for services associated with the share issuance. Each broker warrant entitles the agent to acquire one common 
share of the Company for a period of 12 to 24 months after closing. The broker warrant reserve is used to 
recognize the fair value of outstanding warrants. If the broker warrant is exercised or expires the fair value is 
transferred to share capital or contributed surplus, respectively. A summary of the outstanding broker warrants 
is as follows: 
 

 Broker 
Warrants 

(in thousands) 
Average 

Price 
Expiry 

Date 

 
Amount 

(in thousands) 
Balance - December 31, 2020 1,188 $  0.31   $    176 
  Issued (a) 800 0.19 January 21, 2023 77 
  Expired (910) 0.35  (157) 
Balance - December 31, 2021  1,078 $  0.26   $      96 
  Issued (b) 362 0.40 April 6, 2024 31 
  Issued (b) 106 0.40 April 21, 2024 10 
  Exercised (1,078) 0.19  (96) 
Balance - December 31, 2022 468 $  0.40   $     41 

 
(a) During 2021, 800 thousand broker warrants were issued pursuant to a finder agreement in connection to 

a share financing. Each broker warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at a 
price of $0.19 for a period of 24 months from the date of issuance. The broker warrants issued were fair 
valued at $77 thousand. The fair value was determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the 
following assumptions: a volatility factor of 73.0%, risk-free rate of return of 0.17%, expected dividend of 
0%, and expected term of 24 months.  
 

(b) During 2022, 468 thousand broker warrants were issued pursuant to a finder agreement in connection to 
the unit financing. Each broker warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at a 
price of $0.40 for a period of 24 months from the date of issuance. The broker warrants issued were fair 
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valued at $41 thousand. The fair values were determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the 
following assumptions: a volatility factor of 69.8-69.9%, risk-free rate of return of 2.37-2.63%, expected 
dividend of 0%, and expected term of 24 months.  
 

Warrant reserve  

On certain issues of common shares, the Company has issued warrants with the common shares entitling the 
holder to acquire additional common shares of the Company. The warrant reserve is used to recognize the fair 
value of outstanding warrants. If the warrant is exercised or expires the fair value is transferred to share capital 
or contributed surplus, respectively.  A summary of the outstanding warrants is as follows: 
 

 Warrants 
(in thousands) 

Average 
Price 

Expiry 
Date 

Amount 
(in thousands) 

Balance - December 31, 2020 3,883 $  0.28   $     371 
  Issued (a) 13,333 0.25 January 21, 2023 1,047 
  Expired (1,105) 0.35  (224) 
Balance - December 31, 2021 16,111 $  0.25   $  1,194 
  Issued (b) 13,960 0.40 April 6, 2024 1,199 
  Issued (b) 2,707 0.40 April 21, 2024 250 
  Exercised (2,500) 0.25  (133) 
  Expired (278) 0.25  (15) 
Balance - December 31, 2022 30,000 $  0.33   $  2,495 

 
(a) During 2021, 13,333 thousand warrants were issued in connection to a share financing. Each warrant 

entitles the holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of $0.25 for a period of 24 months 
from the date of issuance. The warrants issued were fair valued at $1,047 thousand. The fair values were 
determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: a volatility factor of 
73.0%, risk-free rate of return of 0.17%, expected dividend of 0%, and expected term of 24 months. 
 

(b) During 2022, 16,667 thousand warrants were issued in connection to a share financing. Each warrant 
entitles the holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of $0.40 for a period of 24 months 
from the date of issuance. The warrants issued were fair valued at $1,449 thousand. The fair values were 
determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: a volatility factor of 
69.8-69.9%, risk-free rate of return of 2.37-2.63%, expected dividend of 0%, and expected term of 24 
months. 

 
16. Earnings per share 
 

The calculation of loss per share amounts is based on the following: 
 

 December 31, December 31, 
 2022 2021 
Numerator:   

     Net loss applicable to common shares  $      (68,788) $      (7,689) 
Denominator:   
Common shares outstanding at January 1  452,804 438,671 
    Weighted average effect of issuances  16,494 13,320 
Weighted average common shares outstanding at  
   December 31 – basic and diluted  

 
469,298 

 
451,991 

Basic and diluted loss per common share (a)  $        (0.15)       $        (0.02)      

(a) Excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per common share are the effects of outstanding share-based 
payments, warrants or broker warrants, as the effect on basic loss per share would be anti-dilutive. 

 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the 
reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements. 

43



 

17. Share-based payments 
 

(a) Share option plan 
The Company has established a share option plan whereby options may be granted to directors, officers, 
employees and service providers to purchase common shares of the Company. Options granted have an 
exercise price of not less than the closing price quoted on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the common 
shares of the Company on the trading day prior to the date on which the option is granted. Certain options 
vest immediately while others vest six to twelve months after grant date and all options granted under the 
plan expire five years from the date of the grant of the options.  All options are to be settled by physical 
delivery of shares. These common shares would be issued from the same 10% rolling pool as the common 
shares issued under the Company’s Deferred Share Unit Plan and the Company’s Performance Share Unit 
and Restricted Share Unit Plan.  

 
The expense related to the Company’s share option plan is recognized in the statements of income and 
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, as presented as follows: 

 

 December 31, December 31, 
Expense category included 2022 2021 

Administration $  14 $  191 
Exploration and evaluation - 5 
Total $  14 $  196 

 
Option movements (in thousands) during the years ended December 31 including weighted average 
exercise prices are as follows: 
 

 2022  2021 
 Options Average  

Price 
  

Options 
Average  

Price 
Outstanding – January 1 19,742 $ 0.21  19,861 $ 0.20 
Granted  200 0.125  1,958 0.22 
Exercised  (375) 0.19  - - 
Expired  (1,089) 0.20  (2,077) 0.20 
Outstanding – December 31 18,478 $ 0.21  19,742 $ 0.21 
      
Exercisable – December 31 18,478 $ 0.21  19,742 $ 0.21 

 
Excluded from the above table are 2,000 thousand stock options, issuable to the former President and Chief 
Executive Officer pursuant to a retirement agreement between MacNeill Brothers Oil and Gas Ltd. and the 
Company. These options will be granted when permitted by applicable securities law. 
 
The grant date fair value of stock options issued under the plan is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility. The option 
life is estimated based on the weighted average historical life of options that have been granted by the 
Company. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payments 
during the year are as follows: 
 

 December 31, 
2022 

December 31, 
2021 

Share price at grant date $ 0.125 $ 0.215 
Exercise price $ 0.125 $ 0.215 
Expected volatility 89.8% 74.3% 
Estimated option life  2.5 years 2.5 years 
Expected dividends 0 % 0 % 
Expected forfeiture rate 0 % 0 % 
Risk-free interest rate                    3.27%                    0.17% 
Fair value at grant date $ 0.07 $ 0.10 
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For options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2022 (in thousands), the range of exercise prices; 
weighted average exercise price and the weighted average remaining contractual life is as follows: 

 
 Outstanding Exercisable 
 
 
Option Price 
Per Share 

 
Options 

December 31, 2022 

Weighted 
Average  
Exercise  

Price 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Life 

 
Options  

December 31,  
2022 

Weighted  
Average  
Exercise  

Price 
$ 0.00 – 0.19 1,948 $ 0.19 0.7 years 1,948 $ 0.19 
$ 0.20 – 0.25 16,530  0.21 2.0 years 16,530 0.21 
 18,478 $ 0.21 1.9 years 18,478 $ 0.21 

  
(b) Deferred share unit plan 

The Company has established a deferred share unit plan (the "DSU Plan"), which provides for the grant of DSUs 
to eligible directors of the Company. The DSU Plan provides for settlement to eligible directors through cash 
payment or the issuance of common shares. The form of settlement is at the option of the Company. The 
Company does not intend to make cash payments and there is no history of the Company making cash 
payments under the DSU plan and, as such, the DSUs are accounted for within shareholders’ equity. These 
common shares would be issued from the same 10% rolling pool as the common shares issued under the 
Company’s Performance Share Unit and Restricted Share Unit Plan and the Company’s Share Option Plan. As 
these DSUs are expected to be settled with equity, an amount equal to the stock-based compensation expense 
is initially credited to contributed surplus and transferred to share capital if and when the deferred share unit 
is redeemed. DSUs vest immediately. 
 

DSU movements (in thousands) during the year ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

  December 31, December 31, 
  2022 2021 
DSUs outstanding – January 1  1,017 537 
  Granted  - 480 
  Redeemed for common shares from treasury  - - 
DSUs outstanding – December 31  1,017 1,017 

 
There were no DSUs granted during 2022.  The weighted average fair value of the DSUs granted during 2021 
was $0.27 per DSU. 
 

The expense related to the Company’s share-based payments as a result of DSUs vesting over the period is 
recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, as presented as 
follows: 

 

   December 31, December 31, 
Expense category included   2022 2021 
  Administration   $  - $   130 
Total   $  - $   130 

 
(c) Performance share unit and restricted share unit plan 

The Company has established a performance share unit and restricted share unit plan (the "Unit Plan"), which 
provides for the grant of PSUs and RSUs to eligible officers and employees of the Company. The Unit Plan 
provides for settlement through cash payment or the issuance of common shares. The form of settlement is at 
the option of the Company. The Company does not intend to make cash payments and there is no history of 
the Company making cash payments under the Unit plan and, as such, the PSUs and RSUs are accounted for 
within shareholders’ equity. These common shares would be issued from the same 10% rolling pool as the 
common shares issued under the Company’s Deferred Share Unit Plan and the Company’s Share Option Plan. 
As PSUs and RSUs are expected to be settled with equity, an amount equal to compensation expense is initially 
credited to contributed surplus, recognized over the term of the vesting period, and transferred to share capital 
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if and when the units are exercised. RSUs vest in three tranches, with all RSUs vesting no later than the third 
anniversary from the date of grant. 
 

As of December 31, 2022, no PSUs have been granted. RSU movements (in thousands) during the year ended 
December 31 are as follows: 
 

   December 31, December 31, 
   2022 2021 
RSUs outstanding – January 1   4,532 3,881 
  Granted   1,000 651 
  Redeemed for common shares from treasury   (2,105) - 
RSUs outstanding – December 31   3,427 4,532 

 
The weighted average fair value of the RSUs granted during 2022 was $0.085 per RSU (2021 - $0.22). The 
expense related to the Company’s share-based payments as a result of RSUs vesting over the period is 
recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, as presented as 
follows: 

 

   December 31, December 31, 
Expense category included   2022 2021 
  Administration   $    144 $     215 
  Exploration and evaluation   6 25 
Total   $    150 $     240 

 
18. Related party transactions 
 

Related party transactions with key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of an 
entity, and include executive and non-executive directors. The Company paid certain of its key management 
personnel through MacNeill Brothers Oil and Gas Ltd., a company owned by certain executive officers and 
directors. 
 

Compensation of key management personnel, including payments to related parties owned by executive 
officers and directors, is as follows: 

  

 
December 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 
Short-term benefits to officers and directors $  374 $  343 
Consulting and management fees to related companies 745 245 
Share-based payments    146    409 
Total compensation paid to key management personnel $ 1,265 $ 997 

 
The amounts disclosed in the table above are the amounts recognized as an expense during the reporting 
period related to key management personnel, of which $500 thousand is reflected in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities at December 31, 2022 pursuant to the retirement agreement with MacNeill Brothers Oil and 
Gas Ltd. The above transactions were in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. The fair value 
of share-based payments in the form of options was determined using the Black-Scholes model. The fair value 
of share-based payments in the form of RSUs and DSUs was determined based on the five-day volume weighted 
average trading price of the Company’s shares preceding the date of grant.  
 

The compensation paid to key management personnel is included in the Company’s statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss as follows: 
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December 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 
Administration $ 1,265 $ 997 
Exploration and evaluation - - 
Total compensation paid to key management personnel $ 1,265 $ 997 

 
19. Financial instruments 
 

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the fair value 
hierarchy for financial instruments that require fair value measurement after initial recognition. The 
classification of each financial instrument is described in note 4.  
 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, receivables, restricted cash and 
trade payables approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.  These financial 
instruments are carried at amortized cost.   
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
All financial instruments measured at fair value are categorized into one of three hierarchy levels as described 
below. Each level is based on the transparency of the inputs used to measure the fair values of assets and 
liabilities: 
 
Level 1 –  Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the 

measurement date for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 –  Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable 

either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and 
Level 3 –  Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable 

and significant to the overall fair value measurement. 
 
Fair value of investment in Wescan 
The disclosure of the fair value and carrying value of the investment in Wescan (note 8) is based on quoted 
prices and is therefore considered to be level 1, consistent with the prior year. 
 
Fair value of contingent consideration 
The disclosure of the fair value of the contingent consideration (note 11) is based on valuation techniques that 
require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement and is 
therefore considered to be level 3. 
 

There have been no transfers between levels during the year. 
 
Risk management 
Certain financial instruments are exposed to the following financial risks: 

 
(a) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss by the Company if a customer or third-party to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company considers this risk to be insignificant as the majority of 
the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash are held by financial institutions with a R-1 (high) 
credit rating. At December 31, 2022, the Company’s credit risk relates to its cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and restricted cash of $2,628 thousand (December 31, 2021 – $2,036 thousand).  

 
(b) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet regulatory liquidity and spending 
requirements as well as meet its financial obligations. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to 
forecast future cash flows to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations when due. To 
ensure the Company has sufficient cash on hand, the Company prepares annual capital and operating budgets 
which are regularly monitored and updated as considered necessary. As at December 31, 2022, the Company 
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had working capital of $2.0 million including cash of $2.6 million. In addition to regulatory spending 
requirements as at December 31, 2022, the Company has trade payables and other lease payments as set out 
in the following table on an undiscounted basis: 
 

 Up to 3 months 
Trade payables and    
   accrued liabilities $ 678  
Lease payments 39 
Total $ 717  

 
Excluded from this table is the contingent consideration as discussed in note 11. An estimate of the discounted 
present value of this contingent consideration was determined to be $nil at December 31, 2022 (2021 - $940 
thousand).  
 

The Company had previously guaranteed certain liabilities by issuing irrevocable standby letters of credit 
(December 31, 2021 - $622 thousand). These guarantees were related to environmental rehabilitation 
provisions.  The Company funded the letters of credit with investments which were recorded on the financial 
statements as restricted cash.  The Company did not include restricted cash in its working capital when 
analyzing its liquidity requirements.  During 2022, these letters of credit of $622 thousand were cancelled by 
the Ministry and the amounts previously presented as restricted cash are now included in cash and cash 
equivalents and working capital as at December 31, 2022.  
 
The further exploration, evaluation and/or development of exploration and evaluation properties in which the 
Company holds interests or which the Company acquires may depend upon the Company's ability to obtain 
financing through equity issues or other forms of financing. Although the Company has been successful in the 
past in obtaining financing, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate 
financing in the future or that the terms of such financing will be favorable. Failure to obtain additional 
financing could result in delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration, evaluation and/or 
development of its projects with the possible loss of such properties. 
 

(c) Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market prices are comprised of four types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity 
price risk and equity price risk. 
 
Foreign currency risk: 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and US dollar 
or other foreign currencies will affect the Company’s operations and financial results. The Company does not 
have significant exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuation since it is currently not producing.  
 
Commodity price risk: 
Commodity price risk is the risk that a variation in commodity price will affect the Company’s operations and 
financial results.  The Company does not have significant exposure to commodity price fluctuations since 
transactions and balances in foreign currencies are minimal, if any.  
 
Interest rate risk: 
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.  
The Company does not have any borrowings. Interest rate risk is limited to potential decreases on the interest 
rate offered on cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash held with chartered 
Canadian financial institutions. The Company considers this risk to be immaterial.  
 
Equity price risk: 
Equity price risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets arising from changes in equity 
markets. The Company is exposed to this risk through its equity holdings. The investment in the common shares 
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of Wescan is monitored by management with recommendations on sale taken to the Board level. A 10 percent 
decrease in the market price of Wescan would result in a $23 thousand decrease in fair value. 
 

20. Capital management 
 

The Company manages its common shares and equity reserves as capital.   
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going 
concern and to explore and develop its exploration and evaluation properties, so that it can provide returns to 
shareholders.  
 

In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual expenditure 
budgets that are updated as necessary. The annual budgets are approved by the Board of Directors. 
 

In order to maximize ongoing exploration and evaluation efforts, the Company does not pay dividends. The 
Company’s investment policy is to invest its cash in highly rated liquid short-term interest-bearing investments 
with an initial term to maturity of twelve months or less.  
 

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

49


	DIAM - 2022 MDA FINAL 29MAR23 (no pages).pdf
	Overview
	Fort à la Corne mineral properties
	Outlook
	Fort à la Corne mineral properties
	Interest and other income (millions)
	Net loss (millions)
	Net loss per share (1)
	Total assets (millions) 
	Total non-current liabilities (millions)


	(1) Basic and diluted.
	Results of Operations
	Interest and other income
	Expenses
	Impairment charge

	Investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc.
	Financing

	Fourth quarter results
	Outstanding Common Shares, Options, Warrants, RSUs and DSUs
	Credit risk
	Liquidity risk
	Market risk

	Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
	Accounting Changes during the period
	Disclosure Controls and Procedures
	Internal Controls over Financial Reporting Procedures
	Risks and Uncertainties
	Technical Information
	Caution regarding Forward-looking Statements

	DIAM - 2022 FS Title page.pdf
	DIAM - 2022 Management-Letter.pdf
	Management’s Responsibility for Consolidated Financial Statements

	2023-03-29 Star Diamond Corporation - Auditors Report.pdf
	DIAM - Q4 2022 Financial Statements FINAL 27MAR23.pdf
	BalSht Rounded
	Income
	Cashflow Rounded
	Change in equity

	DIAM - Q4 notes_2022 FINAL 29MAR23 (no pages).pdf
	1. Corporate information
	2. Basis of preparation
	3. Going concern
	4. Summary of significant accounting policies
	a. Basis of consolidation
	b. Financial instruments
	i. Non-derivative financial assets
	IFRS 9 includes three classifications for financial assets; measurement at fair value through profit or loss, measurement at fair value through comprehensive income and measurement at amortized cost.
	Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
	Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income
	Financial assets measured at amortized cost
	Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
	Financial liabilities at amortized cost
	c. Cash and cash equivalents
	Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term investments that, upon acquisition, have a term to maturity of three months or less.
	d. Short-term investments
	e. Property and equipment
	f. Leases
	g. Exploration and evaluation
	h. Employment Benefits
	i. Provisions
	j. Income tax
	k. Flow-through shares
	l. Share-based payments
	m. Revenue and interest income
	Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
	a. Identification of CGUs
	b. Impairment indicators for exploration and evaluation assets
	c. Exploration and evaluation expenditures
	Key sources of estimation uncertainty
	d. Reserve and resource estimates
	e. Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
	f. Environmental rehabilitation provision
	g. Contingent Consideration
	h. Share-based payment transactions

	6. Changes in IFRS
	i. IAS 1 – Disclosure of Accounting Policies
	ii. IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
	iii. IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

	7. Restricted cash
	8. Investment in Wescan Goldfields Inc.
	9. Property and equipment
	10. Exploration and evaluation assets
	11.  Contingent consideration
	12. Exploration and evaluation expenses
	13. Environmental rehabilitation provision
	14. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
	Unrecognized deferred tax assets
	15. Share capital and reserves
	Common shares issued and fully paid:
	16. Earnings per share
	17. Share-based payments
	18. Related party transactions
	19. Financial instruments
	20. Capital management





